
 

 

 
 
 
3rd May, 2023 

 
The National Stock Exchange of India Limited 
Exchange Plaza, 5th Floor 
Plot No. C/1, G Block 
Bandra Kurla Complex 
Bandra (E) 
Mumbai- 400 051   
 
NSE Symbol : HAVELLS 

BSE Limited 
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 
Dalal Street 
Mumbai- 400 001 
 
Scrip Code : 517354 

 
Sub: Intimations under Regulation 30 

(1) Audited Standalone & Consolidated Financial Results of the Company for the 
fourth quarter and financial year ended 31st March, 2023 alongwith Audit Reports 
for Standalone and Consolidated Financial Results and 

(2) Outcome of Board Meeting 
 
Dear Sir, 
 
With reference to the captioned subject, please find enclosed herewith, the extracts of the 
Standalone and Consolidated Audited Financial Results of the Company for the fourth quarter and 
financial year ended 31st March, 2023 as approved by the Board of Directors in its meeting held 
today i.e. 3rd May, 2023. The Auditors’ Report(s) thereon as submitted by the Auditors of the 
Company are also enclosed. 
 
In terms of second proviso to Regulation 33(3)(d) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, we confirm that the Auditors have given Unmodified Opinion on 
the Annual Audited Standalone and Consolidated Financial Results of the Company for the financial 
year ended 31st March, 2023. 
 
The Board Meeting commenced at 10:00 a.m. and concluded at 1:40 p.m.  
 
The Board of Directors decided to recommend a Final Dividend @ Rs. 4.50 per equity share of Re. 
1/- each for the financial year 2022-23.  
 
The Dividend, if approved by the shareholders in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
of the Company, shall be paid/ dispatched to the shareholders on or before 30 days from the date 
of AGM. 
 
This is for your information and record. 
 
Thanking you. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
for Havells India Limited 
 
 
 
Sanjay Kumar Gupta 
Company Secretary 
Encl: As above 
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STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE FINANCIAL RESULTS 
FOR THE QUARTER AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 , 2023 

(Rs.in Crores) 

Quarter Ended Year Ended 

S.N. Particulars 31-Mar-23 31 -Dec-22 31 -Mar-22 31 -Mar-23 31 -Mar-22 

Audited Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 
(refer Note 4) 

1 Income 
a) Revenue from operations 4,849.59 4,119.71 4,417.05 16,868.38 13,888.53 

b) Other Income 46.81 39.90 44.1 6 177.02 160.42 

Total Income 4,896.40 4,159.61 4,461 .21 17,045.40 14,048.95 

2 Expenses 
a) Cost of raw materials and components consumed 2,538.70 2,321.99 2,487.64 9,317.92 7,772 06 

b) Purchases of traded goods 830.73 673.27 600.17 2,994. 58 1,831.48 

c) Change in inventories of finished goods, traded goods and work in progress 2.63 (235.51) 34.47 (641.20) (2 19.48) 

d) Employee benefits expense 326.16 326.61 275.32 1,261.66 1,014.65 

e) Finance costs 9.75 7.28 19.05 33.62 53 .41 

f) Depreciation and amortisation expense 77.40 74.57 70.72 296.11 260.83 

g) Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 9.28 0.06 10.24 15.91 2.39 

h) Other expenses 

Advertisement and sales promotion 109.52 127.82 68.83 437.40 246.82 

Others 501.80 481.74 419.85 1,879.15 1,483.00 

Total Expenses 4,405.97 3,777.83 3,986.29 15,595.15 12,445.16 

3 Profit before exceptional items and tax (1 -2) 490.43 381 .78 474.92 1,450.25 1,603.79 

4 Exceptional Items (refer note 3) 

a) Loss due to fi re 5.82 112.52 ._ 

b) Insurance claim receivable (5 .82) (112.52) 

5 Profit before tax (3+4) 490.43 381.78 474.92 1,450.25 1,603.79 

6 Income tax expense 

a) Current tax 124.00 94.08 122.49 364.41 397.55 

b) Deferred tax {(Credit)/ Charge} 4.72 3.76 (0.52) 10.89 11.51 

Total tax expense 128.72 97.84 121 .97 375.30 409.06 

7 Profit for the period (5-6) 361.71 283.94 352.95 1,074.95 1,194.73 

8 Other Comprehensive lncome/(Loss), for the period 

Re-measurement gains I (loss) on defined benefit plans (6.76) (118) 11 .71 (10.25) 7.38 

Income tax effect on above 1.70 0.30 (2.95) 2.58 (1.86) 

Other Comprehensive lncome/(Loss) fo r the period, net of tax (5.06) (0.88) 8.76 (7.67) 5.52 

9 Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax (7+8) 356.65 283 .06 361.71 1,067.28 1,200.25 

10 Paid up equity share capital (Face value of Re.1/- each ) 62.65 62.65 62.63 62.65 62.63 

11 Reserves (excluding revaluation reserve shown in the balance sheet) 6,551.83 5,926.01 

12 Earnings per equity share (EPS) 

(Nominal value of Re. 1/-each) (not annualised): 

a) Basic EPS (Rs.) 5 .77 4.53 5.64 17.16 19.08 

b) Diluted EPS (Rs.) 5.77 4.53 5.64 17.16 19.08 

Notes: 
1 These standalone financial results have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind- AS) as prescribed under section 133 of Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 3 

of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 and relevant amendment thereafter. 

2 The above financial results have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. These results have been approved by the Board of Directors at their meeting held on May 03, 2023. A udit under 
regulation 33 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Di,sclosure Requirements) Regulations , 2015 has been carried out by the statutory auditors of the Company. The auditors have expressed 
an unmodified report on the standalone financial statements of the Company. 

3 There was a fire at Neemrana plant of the Company in July 2022 resulting in destruction/ damage of property, plant and equipment and inventories with book value of Rs 47.53 crores and 
Rs 64.99 crores respectively. The loss aggregating to Rs 112.52 crores has been accounted for in the books and disclosed as "Exceptional Items" in the standalone statement of profit and 
loss . The process relating to filing of claim with the insurance company has been completed for property, plant and equipment and subsequent to the year-end, the Company has received 
interim payment amounting to Rs 23.98 crores . The process of filing the surveyor report in respect of claim for inventories is in progress . The Company has adequate insurance coverage 
for the aforesaid loss and based on its assessment of the loss and the terms and conditions of the insurance policies, the claim is fully admissible. Accordingly , Rs. 112.52 crores has been 
disclosed as part of "Except ional Items" in the standalone statement of profit and loss. 

4 The figures of the last quarter are the balancing figures between audited figures in respect of the full financial year up to March 31, 2023 and the unaudited publi shed year-to-date figures up 
to December 31, 2022, being the date of the end of the third quarter of the financial year which were subjected to limited review. 

5 Havells Holdings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, situated in Isle of man was dissolved on October 27, 2022 after completing the process of voluntary winding up . 

I 

6 The Board of Directors of the Company has decided to recommend a Final Dividend of Rs. 4.50/- per Equity Share of Re . 1/- each. 

For and on behalf of the Board 

~rs l~dia Limited 

2=~ r 

Place : Noida Rai Gupt; ) 

Date : May 03, 2023 Chairman , ging Director 
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SEGMENTWISE REVENUE, RESULTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

FOR THE QUARTER AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 
(Rs.in Crores) 

Quarter Ended Year Ended 

S.N. 
31-Mar-23 31-Dec-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Particulars 
Audited Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 

(refer Note 4) 
1 Segment Revenue (Sales and other operating revenue) 

a) Switchgears 601.03 51 4.10 474.42 2,119.63 1,786.40 
b) Cables 1,568.15 1,41214 1,488.10 5,532.60 4,645 08 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 413.35 420.08 399.40 1,601.53 1,370.88 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 749.45 934.76 869.82 3,295.80 3,066.85 
e) Lloyd Consumer 1,264.00 606.76 959.19 3,368 55 2,260.59 
f) Others 253.61 231 .87 226.12 950.27 758.73 

Total 4,849.59 4,119.71 4,417.05 16,868.38 13,888.53 
Less : Inter Segment Revenue - - -
Total Segments Revenue 4,849.59 4,119.71 4,417.05 16,868.38 13,888.53 

2 Segment Results 
a) Switchgears 172.11 126.96 123.06 556.40 490.75 
b) Cables 188.51 162.76 173.20 524 67 540.26 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 75.40 53.35 61.69 246.85 257.63 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 96.16 122 83 150 08 418.88 457.55 
e) Lloyd Consumer (22 .10) (59.63) (21.29) (220.89) (71.10) 
f) Others 11 .53 7.21 26.51 35.00 56.71 

Total 521 .61 413.48 513.25 1,560.91 1,731.80 
Add : (i) Other un-allocable Income 46.81 39.90 44.16 177.02 160.42 
Less: (i) Finance cost (9.75) (7.28) (19.05) (33 62) (53.41) 

(ii) Other un-allocable expenses (68.24) (64.32) (63.44) (254.06) (235.02) 
(iii) Exceptional items 

a) Loss due to fire 5.82 112.52 
b) Insurance claim receivable (5.82) (112.52) 

Total Profit before tax 490.43 381 .78 474.92 1,450.25 1,603.79 

3 Segment Assets 
a) Switchgears 580.76 620.19 611.98 580.76 611.98 
b) Cables 1,309.14 1,166.90 1,126.47 1,309.14 1,126.47 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 694.29 718.74 612 07 694.29 612.07 
ct) Electrical Consumer Durables 1,14317 1,168.39 1,240.26 1,143.17 1,240.26 
e) Lloyd Consumer 4,262.91 3,754.51 3,076.03 4,262.91 3,076.03 
f) Others 285.57 270.28 239.43 285.57 239.43 

8,275.84 7,699.01 6,906.24 8,275.84 6,906.24 
f) Unallocable assets 2,867.36 2,989.13 3,598.92 2,867.36 3,598.92 

Total Assets 11,143.20 10,688.14 10,505.16 11,143.20 10,505.16 

4 Segment Liabilities 
a) Switchgears 387.87 325.66 336 80 387.87 336 80 
b) Cables 859.26 962 64 742.99 859.26 742.99 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 345.74 300.12 254.37 345.74 254.37 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 621.87 575.65 681.57 621 .87 681.57 
e) Lloyd Consumer I 1,105.28 723.41 911.84 1,105.28 911.84 
f) Others 201.92 131.16 124.07 201.92 124 07 

3,521 .94 3,018.64 3,051 .64 3,521.94 3,051 .64 
f) Unallocable liabilities 1,006.78 1,224.27 1,464.88 1,006.78 1,464.88 

Total Liabilities 4,528.72 4,242.91 4,516.52 4,528.72 4,516.52 



HAVELLS INDIA LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AS AT MARCH 31 , 2023 

(Rs. in crores) 
ASAT ASAT 

March 31 , 2023 March 31 , 2022 
Audited Audited 

A ASSETS 
1 Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 2,227.77 2,02 1.34 
Capital work in progress 163.42 56.75 
Goodwil l 31 0.47 310.47 
Other intangible assets 1,082.33 1,101 .69 
Intangible assets under development 2.99 0.46 
Investment in subsidiaries 0.45 1.63 
Financial assets -

(i) Investments 20.00 272.68 
(ii ) Trade receivables 1.59 2.67 
(iii) Other financial assets 148.86 41 .94 

Contract assets 25.57 38.83 
Other non-current assets 78.94 42.93 
Non current tax asset (net) 29.03 26.54 

Total non current assets 4,091.42 3,917.93 
2 Current assets 

Inventories 3,708.47 2,968.08 
Financial assets 

(i) Investments 180.87 153.42 
(ii) Trade receivables 971.33 764.83 
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 456.86 763.70 
(iv) Bank ba lances other than (iii) above 1,405.01 1,772.14 
(v) Other financial assets 11 6.89 29. 89 

Contract assets 26.67 26.55 
Other current assets 175. 15 107.89 
Total current assets 7,041 .25 6,586.50 

3 Assets classified as held fo r sale 10.53 0.73 
7,051 .78 6,587.23 

I Total assets 11 ,143.20 10,505.16 

B EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
1 Equity 

Equity share capital 62.65 62.63 
Other equity 6,551.83 5,926.01 

Total equity 6,614.48 5,988.64 

2 Liabilities 
Non-current liabi lities 
Financial liabilities 

(i) Borrowings - 272.57 
(ii) Lease liabilities 186.91 178.82 
(iii) Other fi nancial liabilities 7.21 3.96 

Contract liabilities 4.10 4.99 
Provisions 136.72 76.25 
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 361 .51 350.62 
Total non current liabilities 696.45 887.21 
Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

(i) Borrowings - 122.96 
(ii ) Lease liabilities 1 36.19 42.05 
(iii) Trade payables 

a) Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises; and 154.96 11 4.08 
b) Tota l outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro Enterpri ses and Small 

2,487.58 2,265.33 
Enterprises 
(iv) Other financial liabilities 624.85 525.46 

Contract liabi lities 82.53 54. 30 
Other current liabilities 138.99 189.05 
Provisions 274.91 253.23 
Current tax liabilities (net) 32.26 62.85 
Total Current liabilities 3,832.27 3,629.31 

Total liabilities 4,528.72 4,516.52 

Total equity and liabilities ( ' . 11 ,143.20 10,505.16 

~~--= . .. 



HAVELLS INDIA LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 , 2023 

(Rs. in Crores) 
Year ended -Year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31 , 2022 

Audited Audited 

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Profit before tax 1,450.25 1,603.79 
Adjustments for 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 296.11 260.83 

Loss /(ga in) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net) 0. 14 1.43 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss /(gain) (net) (6.25) (5.55) 
Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 15.91 2.39 
Impairment/ (reversal of impairment) on investment in subsidiary (2.85) -
Credit impaired trade receivables written off 2.52 10.39 
Discounting of long term warranty provision (12 .11) (5.79) 
Lease rent concession (0.12) (0 .49) 
Interest income on bank deposits and investment (123.23) (103.76) 

Finance cost 33 .44 53.24 
Liabilities no longer required written back (0.23) (0.15) 

Operating Profit before working capital changes 1,653.58 1,816.33 
Change in operating assets and liabilities 

(Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables (223 .47) (215.29) 
(Increase)/ Decrease in contract assets 13.14 4 .52 
(Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets (86.34) 14.80 

(Increase)/ Decrease in non current assets 4.47 4.10 

(Increase)/ Decrease in other current assets (67.26) 1.34 
(Increase)/ Decrease in inventories (740.39) (348.19) 
Increase/ (Decrease) in trade payables 272.72 787.52 
Increase/ (Decrease) in financial liabilities 74.73 (40.49) 
Increase/ (Decrease) in other current liabilities (50.06) 105.73 
Increase/ (Decrease) in contract liabili ties 27.34 7.57 
Increase/ (Decrease) in provisions 78.22 20.43 

Cash generated from operations 956.68 2,158.37 

Income tax paid (net of refunds) (391.94) (413.80) 

Net cash inflow from operating Activities (a ) 564.74 1,744.57 

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Payment for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (587.77) (258.28) 

Receipt of grant related to assets 3.72 

Proceeds from liquidation of subsidiary 4.03 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2.27 5.56 

Investment in fixed deposits with bank and financial institution 520.43 (605.13) 

Payment for investments (20.00) 

Interest on fixed deposit and investment received 120.12 94.92 

Net Cash inflow /(outflow) used in Investing Activities (B) 39.08 (759.21) 

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock purchase plan - share capital 0.02 0.03 
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock purchase plan - security premium received 26.65 31.12 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (44.28) (34.54) 
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (18 .35) (14.89) 
Proceeds from long term borrowing 0.04 
Repayment of long term borrowings (393.69) (97.35) 
Interest paid (6.98) (24.46) 
Dividends paid to Company's shareholders (470 .30) (407.29) 

Net cash inflow /(outflow) from Financing Activities (C) (906.93) (547.34) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (303.11) 438.02 
Cash and cash equivalents' at the beginning of the year 763.70 326.57 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currency (3.73) (0.89) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 456.86 763.70 
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STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS 
FOR THE QUARTER AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 , 2023 

(Rs.in Crores) 

Quarter Ended Year Ended 

S.N . Particulars 31 -Mar-23 31-Dec-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31 -Mar-22 

Audited Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 
(refer note 4) 

1 Income 
a) Revenue from operations 4,859.21 4,127.57 4,426.26 16,910.73 13,938.48 

b) Other Income 46.71 39.64 44.11 177.71 160.44 

Total Income 4,905.92 4,167.21 4,470.37 17,088.44 14,098.92 

2 Expenses 
a) Cost of raw materials and components consumed 2,538. 70 2,321.99 2,488.49 9,317.92 7,770.07 

b) Purchases of traded goods 838.94 679.14 607.18 3,028.75 1,871.40 

c) Change in inventories of finished goods, traded goods and work in progress 2.63 (235.51) 34.47 (641.20) (2 19.48) 

d) Employee benefits expense 327.88 328.23 276.89 1,268.32 1,020.69 

e) Finance costs 9.75 7.28 19.05 33.62 53.41 

f) Depreciation and amortisation expense 77.42 74.58 70.74 296.17 260.89 

g) Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 9.28 0.06 10.24 15.91 2.39 

h) Other expenses 

Advertisement and sales promotion 109.52 127.82 68.83 437.40 246.82 

Others 505.11 482.23 420.23 1,884.49 1,486.17 

Total Expenses 4,419.23 3,785.82 3,996.12 15,641 .38 12,492.36 

3 Profit before exceptional items and tax (1 -2) 486 .69 381.39 474.25 1,447.06 1,606.56 

4 Exceptional Items (refer note 3) 

a) Loss due to fire 5.82 112.52 

b) Insurance claim receivable (5 .82) (112.52) 

5 Profit before tax (3+4) 486 .69 381 .39 474.25 1,447 .06 1,606.56 

6 Income tax expense 

a) Current tax 123.93 94. 11 122.29 364.44 398.58 

b) Deferred tax ( Credit ) / Charge 4.72 3.76 (0.52) 10.89 11.51 

Total tax expense 128.65 97.87 121.77 375.33 41 0.09 

7 Profit for the period (5-6) 358.04 283.52 352.48 1,071.73 1,196.47 

8 Other Comprehensive lncome/(Loss), for the period 

A Re-measurement gains I (loss) on defined benefit plans (6.76) (1 .18) 11.71 (10.25) 7.38 

Income tax effect on above 1.70 0.30 (2.95) 2.58 (1 .86) 

B Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (0.12) 0.56 0 .18 (0.06) 0.66 

Income tax effect on others 

Other Comprehensive lncome/(Loss) for the period, net of tax (5.18) (0.32) 8.94 (7.73) 6.18 

9 Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax (7+8) 352 .86 283.20 361.42 1,064.00 1,202.65 

10 Paid up equity share capital (Face value of Re.1/- each) 62.65 62.65 62.63 62.65 62.63 

11 Reserves (excluding revaluation reserve shown in the balance sheet) 6,562.80 5,940.26 

12 Ea rnings per equity share (EPS) 

(Nominal value of Re. 1/-each) (not annualised): 

a) Basic EPS (Rs.) 5.71 4.53 5.63 17.11 19.11 

b) Diluted EPS (Rs.) 5.71 4.53 5.63 17.11 19.10 

Notes: 
1 These consolidated financial results have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind- AS) as prescribed under section 133 of Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 

3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 and relevant amendment thereafter. 

2 The above consolidatd financial results have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. These consolidated results have been approved by the Board of Directors at their meeting held on May 
03, 2023. Audit under regulation 33 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations , 2015 has been carried out by the statutory auditors of the Company. The 
auditors have expressed an unmodified report on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

3 There was a fire at Neemrana plant of the Group in July 2022 resulting in destruction/ damage of property, plant and equipment and inventories with book value of Rs 47.53 crores and Rs 
64.99 crores respectively. The loss aggregating to Rs 112.52 crores has been accounted for in the books and disclosed as "Exceptional Items" in the consolidated statement of profit and 
loss. The process re lating to filing of claim with the insurance company has been completed for property, plant and equipment and subsequent to the year-end, the Group has received 
interim payment amounting to Rs 24.00 crores. The process of filing the surveyor report in respect of claim for inventories is in progress . The Group has adequate insurance coverage for 
the aforesaid loss and based on its assessment of the loss and the term s and conditions of the insurance policies, the claim is fully admissible. Accordingly, Rs . 112.52 crores has been 
disclosed as part of "Exceptional Items" in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. 

4 The figures of the last quarter are
1 
the balancing figures between audited figures in respect of the full financial year up to March 31, 2023 and the unaudited published year-to-date figures up 

to December 31, 2022, being the date of the end of the third quarter of the financial year which were subjected to limited review. 

5 Havells Holdings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, situated in Isle of man was dissolved on October 27, 2022 after completing the process of voluntary winding up. 

For and on behalf of the Board 

ells India Limited 

I ,.. ,--
c , 

Place : Noida (Anil Rai Gupta) .. 

Date : May 03, 2023 Chairman and Managing Director 
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CONSOLIDATED SEGMENTWISE REVENUE, RESULTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

FOR THE QUARTER AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 
(Rs in Crores) 

Quarter Ended Year Ended 
31-Mar-23 31-Dec-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

S.N. Particulars 
Audited Unaudited Audited Audited Audited 

(refer note 4) 
1 Segment Revenue (Sales and other operating revenue) 

a) Switchgears 60 1.03 51 4.33 474.51 2,1 20.19 1,795.97 
b) Cables 1,568.15 1,412. 14 1,488 10 5,532.60 4,645.08 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 4 15.95 423 .1 7 405.23 1,61 4. 54 1,391 .60 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 749.45 935.74 872.72 3,298. 21 3,073.94 
e) Lloyd Consumer 1,271 .02 610.32 959.58 3,394. 92 2,273.16 
f) Others 253.61 231 .87 22q.12 950.27 758.73 

Total 4,859 .21 4,127.57 4,426.26 16,910.73 13,938.48 
Less : Inter Segment Revenue - - - -
Total Segments Revenue 4,859.21 4,127.57 4,426.26 16,910.73 13,938.48 

2 Segment Results 
a) Switchgears 172.11 127.05 123.86 556.55 493.54 
b) Cables 188.51 162.76 173.44 524.67 540.50 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 75.49 53.55 63.27 247.99 262.21 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 96.15 122.81 151.48 419.01 457.59 
e) Lloyd Consumer (22 .94) (60 .03) (21.50) (223.27) (73 .46) 
f) Others 11 .53 7.21 26.88 35.00 56.90 

Total 520.85 413.35 517.43 1,559 .95 1,737.28 
Add : (i) Other un-allocable Income 46.71 39.64 44.11 177.71 160.44 
Less (i) Finance cost (9 .75) (7 28) (19.05) (33 .62) (53.41) 

(ii) Other un-allocable expenses (71.12) (64.32) (68.24) (256.98) (237.75) 
(iii) Exceptional items 

a) Loss due to fire 5.82 - - 112.52 
b) Insurance claim receivable (5.82) - (112.52) 

Total Profit before tax 486.69 381.39 474.25 1,447.06 1,606.56 

3 Segment Assets 
a) Switchgears 580.76 620.19 612.08 580.76 612.08 
b) Cable 1,309.14 1,166.90 1,126.72 1,309.14 1,126.72 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 694.29 718.74 612.15 694.29 612.15 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 1,143.17 1,168 39 1,240.43 1,143.17 1,240.43 
e) Lloyd Consumer 4,262.91 3,754.51 3,076.17 4,262~91 3,076.17 
f) Others 285.57 270.28 239.47 285.57 239.47 

8,275.84 7,699.01 6,907.02 8,275.84 6,907.02 
f) Unallocable assets 2,881 .60 3,003.72 3,616 .19 2,881 .60 3,616.19 

Total Assets 11 ,157.44 10,702.73 10,523.21 11 ,157.44 10,523.21 

4 Segment Liabilities 
a) Switchgears 387.87 325.66 335 03 387.87 335 03 
b) Cable 859.26 962.64 739.65 859.26 739.65 
c) Lighting & Fixtures 345.74 300.12 265.53 345.74 265.53 
d) Electrical Consumer Durables 621 .87 575.65 681 .04 621.87 681.04 
e) Lloyd Consumer I 1,105.28 723.41 907.40 1,105.28 907.40 
f) Others 201 .92 131.16 123.43 201 .92 123.43 

3,521 .94 3,018.64 3,052.08 3,521 .94 3,052.08 
f) Unallocable liabilities 1,010.05 1,226.98 1,468.24 1,010.05 1,468.24 

Total Liabilities 4,531 .99 4,245.62 4,520.32 4,531.99 4,520.32 



HAVELLS INDIA LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AS AT MARCH 31 , 2023 

(Rs. in crores) 
AS AT ASAT 

March 31 , 2023 March 31 , 2022 
Audited Audited 

A ASSETS 
1 Non-current assets 

Property , plant and equipment 2,227.85 2,021 .45 
Capita l work in progress 163.42 56.75 
Goodwill 310.47 310.47 
Other intangible assets 1,082.33 1,101 69 
Intangible assets under development 2.99 0.46 
Financial assets 

(i) Investments 20.00 272.68 
(ii) Trade receivables 1.59 2.67 
(iii) Other financial assets 149.08 42.18 

Contract assets 25.57 38.83 
Other non-current assets 78.94 42.93 
Non current tax asset (net) 29.03 26.54 

Total non current assets 4,091.27 3,916.65 
2 Current assets 

Inventories 3,708.58 2,968.08 
Financia l assets 

(i) Investments 180.87 153.42 
(ii) Trade receivables 973.94 766.26 
(iii ) Cash and cash equ ivalents 465.16 775.84 
(iv) Bank balances other than (ii i) above 1,405.01 1,772.1 4 
(v) Other financial assets 116.89 29.89 

Contract assets 26.67 26.55 
Other current assets 178.52 113.65 
Total current assets 7,055.64 6,605.83 

3 Assets classified as held for sale 10.53 0.73 
7,066.17 6,606.56 

I Total assets 11 ,157.44 10,523.21 

B EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
1 Equity 

Equity share capital 62.65 62.63 
Other equity 6,562.80 5,940.26 

Total equity 6,625.45 6,002.89 

2 Liabil ities 
Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabil ities 

(i) Borrowings - 272.57 
(ii) Lease liabil ities • 186.91 178.82 
(iii) Other financial liabilities 7.21 3.96 

Contract liabi lities 4.10 4.99 
Provisions 136.72 76.25 
Deferred tax liabili ties (Net) 361.51 350.62 
Tota l non current liabilities 696.45 887.21 
Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

(i) Borrowings - 122.96 
(ii) Lease liabilities 

I 
36.19 42.05 

(i ii) Trade payables 
a) Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises; and 154.96 11 4.08 
b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro Enterprises and Small 

2,488.23 2,265.94 
Enterprises 
(iv) Other financial liabi lities 624.85 525.48 

Contract liabilities 84.42 57.03 
Other current liabilities 139.72 189.51 
Provisions 274.91 253.23 
Current tax liabilities (net) 32.26 62.83 
Total Current liabilities 3,835.54 3,633.1 1 

Total liabilities 4,531.99 4,520.32 

Total equity and liabilities 1j_, 157.44 10,523.21 

t ) .:. ---....rf'V". .. 



HAVELLS INDIA LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 

(Rs. in Crores) 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

Audited Audited 

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Profit before tax 1,447.06 1,606.56 

Adjustments for 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 296.17 260.89 
Loss /(ga in) on disposal of property, plant and equ ipment (net) 0.1 4 1.43 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss /(gain) (net) (6.25) (5.55) 
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements foreign operations (0.06) 0.66 
Net impairment losses on financia l and contract assets 15.91 2.39 
Cred it impaired trade receivables written off 2.52 10.39 
Discounting of long term warranty provision (12.11) (5.79) 
Lease rent concession (0.12) (0.49) 
Interest income on bank deposits and investment (123.24) (10445) 
Finance costs 33.44 53.24 

Liabi lities no longer required written back (0.23) (0.15) 

Operating Profit before working capital changes 1,653.23 1,819.13 
Change in operating assets and liabilities 

(Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables (224.65) (213 .30) 
(Increase)/ Decrease in contract assets 13.14 4. 52 
(Increase)/ Decrease in other financial assets (86.35) 14.91 
(Increase)/ Decrease in non current assets 4.47 0.18 
(Increase)/ Decrease in other current assets (64.87) 1.34 
(Increase)/ Decrease in inventories (740 .50) (348.19) 
Increase/ (Decrease) in trade payables 272.74 787.65 
Increase/ (Decrease) in financial liabilities 74.73 (58.84) 
Increase/ (Decrease) in other current liabilities (52.52) 107.47 
Increase/ (Decrease) in contract liabilities 29.23 7.57 
Increase/ (Decrease) in provisions 78 .22 20.43 

Cash generated from in operations 956.87 2,142.87 

Income tax paid (net of refunds) (391.94) (414 .85) 
Net Cash flow from Operating Activities (A) 564.93 1,728.02 

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVIJIES 

Purchase of property, plant and equ ipment and intangible assets (587.79) (258 .32) 

Receipt of grant related to assets - 3.72 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2.27 5.56 

Investment in fi xed deposits with the bank and fi nancia l institution 520.43 (605.13) 

Payment for Investments (20 00) 

Interest on fi xed deposit and investment received 120.13 95.61 

Net Cash inflow /(outflow) used in Investing Activities (B) 35.04 (758.56) 

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock purchase plan - share capita l 0.02 0.03 
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock purchase plan - security premium received 26.65 31.12 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabili ties (44 .27) (34.54) 
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (18 .35) (14.89) 
Proceeds from long term borrowing 0.04 
Repayment of long term borrowings (393.69) (97.35) 
Interest paid (6 98) (24.46) 
Dividends paid to company's shareholders (470 .30) (407.29) 

Net cash inflow /(outflow) from Financing Activities (C) (906 .92) (547.34) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (306.95) 422.12 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 775.84 354.62 
Net foreign exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currency (3.73) (0 .90) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 465.16 775.84 



Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 

Inde pendent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of Havells India Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

1. We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Havclls India Limited 
("the Company"), which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, .and the 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

2. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies 
Ad, :w1:3 ("the Act") in the m;tnn 'I' so r •quired and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
lhe acco1111t i11g prrnciples general ly acct:pte<l in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 
Mardi :~ 1, 2023, .ind lolal ·ornprehensivc income (comprising of profit and other comprehensive 
income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion 

3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in 
the '·A11d it·or\ l{esponsibililies for !lie A udit of the Financial Stateu1enls" s1:diu11 of our n•port. 
We arc i11depc-11den L of the Company in accorclnnce \'\11th the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered 1\ccounla11ts of l11clia together with the cth iC';tl requirenwnts that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act an d the Rules 
thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

4. Key · audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a 
whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. We have determined the matter described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report. 

Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP, Building No. 8, 8th Floor, Tower B, DLF Cyber City 
Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana 
T: +91 (124) 4620 000, F: +91 (124) 4620 620 

Registered oHlce and Head office: Plot No. 56 & 57, Block DN, Sector-V, Salt Lake, Kolkata - 700 091 

Price Waterhouse & Co. (a Partnership Firm) converted in to Price Waterhouse & Ca Chartered Accountants LLP (a Limited Liabil ity Partnership with LLP identity no: 
LLPIN AAC-4362) with effect from July 7, 201 4. Post its conversion ta Price Waterhouse & Ca Chartered Accountants LLP, its !CAI registration number is 
304026E/E300009 (!CAI registration number before conversion was 304026E) 



INDEPENDENT AUDJTOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Havdls India Limited 
Report on Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Key audit matter . How our audit addressed the key audi t 
matter 

Assessment of impairment of Our audit procedures among others, 
goodwill and intangible assets with included the following: 
indefinite useful lives 

Refer Note 4 to the standalone 
financial statements. 

As at March 31, 2023, the standalone 
financial statements include goodwill of Rs. 
~~10-47 crores and intangible assets ½rith 
indefinite useful lives of Rs. 1,029 crores 
pertaining to acquisition of Lloyd business 
in an earlier year. 

In accordance with the requirements of 
Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 36 
'Impairment of Assets', the management 
has allocated the said goodwill and 
intangible assets to the underlying Cash 
Generating Unit (CGU) and tested the same 
for impairment using a Discounled Cash 
Flow (DCF) n 1odel. Based on such testing, 
the recoverable amount of the CGU is 
higher than the carrying amount of the said 
assets and accordingly no adjustment for 
impairment is necessary. 

We considered this as a key audit matter 
because of the significant carrying value of 
the above mentioned assets and high 
estimation uncertainty in assumptions used 
such as discount rate, rate of growth over 
the estimation period and terminal growth 
rate which are affected by future market and 
economic conditions and, hence, are 
inherently uncertain. 

Other Information 

a. Understanding and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of 
internal controls over the impairment 
assessment process, including 
preparation of the DCF model; 

b. Evaluating the Company's accounting 
policy in respecl of impairment 
assessment of goodwill and intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives; 

c. Understanding the cash flow 
projections and assumptions used in 
the DCF model, evaluating the 
mathematical accuracy and reading the 
report of the management's expert; 

d. Together with auditor's valuation 
experts, testing the appropriateness of 
the DCF model and key assumptions 
therein and performing sensitivity 
analysis over key assumptions to 
corroborate that the recoverable 
amount of the CGU is within a 
reasonable range; and 

e. Testing related presentation and 
disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements. 

Based on the above procedures performed, 
the management's impairment assessment of 
the goodwill and intangible assets was found 
to be reasonable. 

s. The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the inforrnatio11 included in the Annual report but does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor's rero rt thereon. 

Our opinion on tbe financial statements does not cover the other information aud we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

ln c:onncclion with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
inform;ition and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the fi11u11cial statements or our knowl,·d)',e obt ,1i11ed in the audit o·r 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of Havells India Limited 
Report on Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are require<! to 
report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for t:he 
financial statements 

6. The Company's Boa'rd of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of 
the Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements that giv e a 
true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, including the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. This 
responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance w ith 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and 
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operat ing 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to 
the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view a nd 
are free from material misstatement, whether clue to fraud or error. 

7. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, rlisclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor's responsibilities fol' Lhe auclil of lhc financial s tatements 

8. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion . Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. . 

9. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate lo provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than fo r one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion , forgery, 
intention a I omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are approprialc in the circumstances. Under Section 14:1(3)(i) of the Act, 
we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate 
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internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertai nty 
exisls related to cvc11l s or t ondil ions Lhal may cast s i1,nific:1nt doubt on the Compan y's 
ability to continue ;1s a goi11g <'(HH'Crn . If we conc.:ludc that a 111alcrial rn1ccrt~1in1y exi sts, 
we nrc required 10 draw ;1ttc-11lio11 in our auditor's r •porl lo the rclalNI disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audito r's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to contin ue 
as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial stateme11ts, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

10.We communicate with those charged \vith governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

11. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

12. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

13.As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order"), issued by the 
Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in 
the Annexure Ba statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to 
the extent applicable. 

14.As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of 
our knowledge and belief were necessaiy for the purposes of our audit. 

(b) 1n our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept hy the 
Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books. 

(c) The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone StaleuH 111 of Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income), the Standalone Stal •11wn1 of Changes in Equity and the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the 
books of account. , 
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(d) In our opm1on, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the 
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 
2023, taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2023, from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the 
Act. 

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our 
separate Report in "Annexure A". 

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordauce 
with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us: 

1. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial 
position in its standalone financial statements - Refer Note 31 to the standalone 
financial statements; 

n. The Company was not required to recognise a provision as at March 31, 2023 under 
the applicable law or accounting standards, as it does not have any material 
foreseeable losses on long-term contract. The Company did not have any derivative 
contracts as at March 31, 2023 .. 

m. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company during the year. 

1v. (a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as 
disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds have been advanced or loaned or 
invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or auy other sources or kind 
of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including 
foreign entities ("Intermediaries"), with the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly, 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or 
on behalf of the Company ("Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries (Refer Note 32(19)(ii) to 
the standalone financial statements); 

(b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as 
disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds have been received by lhc Company 
from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Fundi11µ; l': ,rlies"), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or othe1wise, that the Company 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party ("Ultimate 
Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries (Refer Note 32(19)(ii) to the slandalone financial 
statements); and 

(c) Based on such audit procedures that we considered reasonable and appropriate in 
the cirrnmstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that 
the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement. 
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v. The dividend declared and paid during the year by the Company is in compliance 
with Section 123 of the Act. 

15. The Company has paid/ provided for managerial remuneration in accordance with the 
requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V to the 
Act. 

;\s provi:so to Rule :3(1) nf the Companies (Acwunls) Rules. :101.} (as amended) , which provi des 
for Llw feature of recording of audit lrail (edit log) faeil it_v i11 the at-co1111ting soft ware used hy the 
Company fnr maintenance or books of accrwnt and relalctl matters, is npplicablc for the 
Cornpa11~1 only wil h effect from financial year beginning April 1, 2023, the reporting under clause 
(g) of Rule 11 is currently not applicable. 

For Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 
Firm Registration Number: 304026E/E-300009 

~~.,t.,~-
Ot1gata {fokherjee 

l'artncr 
lcml.Jershi p Number: 057084 

UDIN: 23057084BGYFRB3443 
Place: Gurugram 
Date: May 03, 2023 



Anncxure A to Independent Auditor's Report 

Refencd to in paragraph 14(t) of tlH: Independent .i\nditor's Report of even date to the members of Havdls India 
Limited on the stnnclalone filrnncinl stiltements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Page 1 of 2 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial Statements under 
clause (i) of sub-section ;3 of Section 143 of the Act 

1. We have audited the internal financial controls wi th reference t o financial statements of Ha veils I m lia 
Limited ("the Company") as of March 31, 2023 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date . 

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

2. The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial cont rols 
based on the internal control over financial reporting criterin l'S I ablished by the Company co11s id<..•1·ing 
the essential components of internal controf stated in the Guidn11ce Note on Audit oflnternal Fi 11a n i' ial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting ("the Guidance Note") issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Ind ia ("ICAI"). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
m~ii nknance of adequate internal finandnl controls tha t were operating effectively for ensuring the 
onk•rly and c-fficient conduct of its b usiness, including adherence to company's policies, the 
sakguarding of its assets, the pn'ven tion and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, ancl the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 
as required under the Act. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accon.lancc with the Guidance 
Note and the Standards on Auditing deemed to be prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act to the 
extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls and both issued by the ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance ab out 
whe the r adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial sta tements was established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects . 

4 . Our audit involves pertonning procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system with reference to financial statements mid their operating effectiveness . Our 
audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an 
understanding of internal fin ancial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the r isk 
th at a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
interrrnl control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether clue 
to fraud or error. 

5 . We believe that the mH.lit evidence we have obtained is suffici('.llt and appropriate to provid e a basis for 
om audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system with reference Lo financial 
sla lements . 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements 

6. /\ company's internal financial controls '"'rith r efe rence to fin ancial statements is a process designed to 
provide reaso nable nsst1rance reg,mling the rdi<1bil ity of fi1 w ncial reporting and the prcparnlion or 
financial stalernents !'or ex ternal purposes in acconlance with generally acceplcu accounting princiµlcs. 
A company's inlernal fina ncial controls with reference to fin,111cial statcm cnls incl11cles those policies 
and procedu res tha t ( 1) pertain to the m a intenance of records that, in reasonable deta il, accurately c1nd 
fai rly reflect the trn nsact iuns ,llld dispos itions of th e assets of the rDmpany; (2) provide rc;isonahlc 
assur,rn c-e that t rans,1c li o11s arc reco 1·ded as necessary to permit p rq1arat ion of fi 11a nr ial st ,, tements in 
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accordance with generally accepted acrn11nting principles, and that receipts and expenditures oi the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detectioI1 of 
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements 

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, matErial 
misstalemcnls due Lo error or frn11d may ocrnr and not he clelected. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of the internal financial controls wilh reference to finandal sl.alcmcnls to future pcriods ;1rc sub j(•cl to 
the risk that the internal lin;1ncial contrnls with rdcrcnec to financiaJ statements may h~c,omc 
inadequate because of chang.es in condition:- , or that the dcgn!t' of compli~u1t·c with the policies c>r 
procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion 

8. In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system 
with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2023, based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note issued by ICAI. 

For Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 
Firm Registration Number: 304026E/E-300009 

,,,,;~~1-
l'a rtncr 
Membership Number: 057084 

UDIN: 23057084BGYFRB3443 
Place: Gurugram 
Date: May 03, 2023 
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i. (a) (A) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full pmticulars, including quantita tive 
details and situation, of Property, Plant and Equipment. 

(B) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars of Intangible Assets. 

(b) The Property, Plant and Equipment of the Company have been physically verified by the 
Management during the year and no material discrepancies have been noticed on such 
verification. In our opinion, the frequency of verification is reasonable. 

(c) The title deeds of all the immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is the 
lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), as disclosed in Note 3 
to the standalone financial statements, are held in the name of the Company, except for the 
following: 

Description Gross Held in the Whether Period held Reason for 
of property carrying name of pron1otcr, not being 

value (Re;. director or held in the 
crores) their name of the 

relative or Company 
employee 

Freehold Land 15.89 Late Shri Qimat Erstwhile From March Refer Note 
in Delhi Rai Gupta, on Promoter/ 31 , 2011 3( viii) to the 

behalf of M/s Director standalone 
Guptajee & financial 
Company statements. 

Building HJ 0 .04 Mrs. Shakrereh No From April 01, 

Bengaluru Shraddhanand 2012 

Further, the Company has taken the following imm ovable properties on lease, bu t the lease 
agreement has not been duly executed in favour of the Company: 

Description Gross Held in the Whether Period held Reason for 
of property carrying name of promoter, lease 

value (ri'ght- director or agreement 
of-use asset) their not executed 
(R'i. crores) relative or with the 

employee Company 

Building 111 43.20 QRG Enterprises Promoter ti11 From August Refer Note 
S,1hibabad Limited October 12, 01, 2007 3(ix) to the 

2022 stanclnlone 
finan cial 

Building in 96.79 QRG Enterprises Promoter till From July 01 , statements. 
Noida Limited October 12, 200 8 

2022 
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(cl ) The Cnmpany has chosen cosl model for iLs Prllperty, Plant and Equipment (including Right-of­
Use assds) and inta11)!_ihle ,wsl'ls. Const>que11t ly, the question of our comm enting on whether t he 
reval11:1lio11 is based <111 the valuation liy a Rcgist<.•rc•d Valuer, or specify ing the amount or chan~<i, 
if the change is 10% or more in the aggregate of th · net carrying value of each class of Prnpe1·ty, 
Plant and Equipment (including Right-of-Use nsst'ls) or int:rn~ible asset s does not ~,r ise·. 

(c) Based on the information and explanations furnished to us, no proceedings have been initiate d or 
are pending against the Company for holding benarni property under the Prohibition of Benarni 
Property Transactions Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) (formerly the Benami Transac tions 
(Prohibit ion) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988)) and Ru1es made thereunder, and therefore the question of our 
commenting on whether the Company has appropriately clisclosec\ the details in its fina n cial 
statements does not arise. 

11 . (a) The physical verification of inventory, excluding stocks with third parties, has been conducte d at 
reasonable inte rvals by the Management during the year and, in our opinion, the coverage and 
pwccdure of :-: uch ver ifieal ion by lVlanagcmenl is appropriate. I 11 respect M inv<·11tory lyi ng willt t L1ird 
parties, tlws t• ha v<' :;ubs la11lially been confirnw d by tl 1t•111. The discrepancies 11 11 tin ·d <1 11 phys ical 
veri(icaliun of i11vl.! 11lo ry as compared tu hook records were 1101 10% or more i11 :i~rcg.it l' ro r c;1ch 
class o f' inve nto ry. 

(b) During the year, the Company has not been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of R s. 5 
c,rores, in aggregate from bank: and financial institutions on the b:i.,is of security of current assets 
and accordingly, the question of our commenting on whether the quarterly returns or statements 
are in ngreement with the unaudited books of account of the Company does not arise. 

iii. (a) Tlw Company lws nl:tlk inwsLBH!11ts i11 one company during the year. The Co111p:111y h ;1s not gran ted 
se<.: urcd/ unsecured loa 11:;/adva11ccs i11 11 a L11 i-c orloans, or stood ~uarantee, or provided sccuri lv to 
;111 y parties. There fore, Ilic· repnrlinf\ 111Hle r <·lause ·~ (iii), (iii)(a), (iii)(c), (iii)(cl), iii )(c) and ( iij) (f) 
ol the Ordt•r :tl"L' 1101 applica l !(• to till' C'oinp;1 ny. 

(b) In respect of the investments, the terms ancl conditions under wbich such investments were nrnde 
arc not prejudicial to the Company's interest. 

iv. The Company has not granted any Joans, or provided any guarantees or security to the par ties 
covered under Section 185 of the Act. Further, in our opinion, and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has complied with the provisions of Sections 186 of the 
Cmnpanics Act, 2013 in respect of the investments made by it and the Company bas not provided 
any loans, guarantees or security to the parties covered under Section 186 of the i\ct. 

v. The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed lo be deposits within the 
meaning of Sections 73, 74, 75 and 76 of the Act and the Rules framed there under to the extent 
notified. 

vi . Pursuant to the rules made by the Central Government of India, the Company is requi red to maintain 
wst records ,is specified under Section t48(1) of the Act in respect of its products . We have broadly 
revi ewed the same and arc of the opinion that, prirna facie, the prrscribccl accou nts ,md records have 
been made and nrnin tninecl. We have not , however, made a detailed exami1mlio11 of the records with 
a view lo determine whether they are accurate or complete. 
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vii. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined 
by us, in our opinion, thl' ('<J mpa ny is regular in depositing the undisputed statutory dues, including 
goods and services tax, prm iclent fund, employees' state insurance, income tax, duty of customs, 
cess, and other material statutory dues, as applicable, with the appropriate authorities . 

(bJ ,\ccordin6 to the information and cxpla1rn lions given to us and the n•cnrcls of the Company 
l'Xamim·d b y us, th ere an.! no s tatutory dul's of provident fund, employees· st.i lt• insurance and cess, 
whi ·h li:wc·not h e l'll d<' pos il L~cl 011 ac·eo1111l of any dispute. The particulars of other statutory dues 
referred to in sub-clause (a) as at March 31, 2023 which have not bce11 dcposilcc.l on account of a 
dispute, are as follows : 

--• -
Name of Nature of dues Amount of Arrrnunt Period to which Forum whe1 
the statute demand paid the amount dispute is 

without under relates pending 
netting-off protest 

(financial amount paid 
under protest (Rs. Year) 

crores) 
(Rs. crores) 

--Income Tax Income tax 1..59 0.21 2008- 09, 2011 -12 High Court, 
Act, 1961 and 2013-14 Delhi 

- --- -
Income Tax Income tax 19.34 8.23 2010-11, 2014- 15 Income Tax 
Act; 1961 and 2016- 17 Appellate 

Tribunal, Ne, 
Delhi -

Income Tax Income tax 16.62 2.29 2009- 10, 2017-18 Commissioner 
Act, 1961 and 2019-20 of Income Tax 

(Appeals), Ne w 
Delhi -- -- - - - --

Income Tax Income tax 0.01 0.01 2018-19 Assessing 
Ad, 1961 Officer, New 

Delhi 
- --- , ~- - --- ·- · 

Central Excise duty 0.23 - 2007-08 to 2009- CESTAT, -
Excise Act, 10 (Chandigarh) 
1944 

-- ----- •·--·---

Central Excise duty 15.96 0.60 2015-16 to 2017- CESTAT, 
Excise Act, 18 (Karnataka) 
1944 

- -- - - - - . -- --
Cornn1issione The Customs - Customs duty 0.04 - 2019- 20 r 

Act, 1962 of Customs 
(Appeals), Ne w 
Delhi 

- --- - - - -- - -- •·-
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- N81nc of the 
statute 

The Customs 
Act, 1962 

Bihar Value 
Added Tax 

Nature of dues 

Customs duty 

Amount of 
demand without 

netting-off 
amount paid 

under protest 

(Rs. crores) 

0.09 

Sales tax 
--------l------,-----1· 

0.62 

Alnount 
paid 

under 
protest 

(Rs. 
crores) 

Sales tax 
l----'---A~c~t,_2~0~0~~'--------1----- - ---+---------t- -­

Haiyana 
Value Added 
Tax Act . 2.003 
Kerala Value 
Added Tax 
Act, 2.003 

Tamil Nadu 
Value Added 
Tax Act, 2006 

Orissa En try 
Tax Act, 1999 

Sales tax 

Sales tax 

Entry tax 

Haryana Local Local Area 

0 .2.5 0.15 

--- ------ -----l---
0 .28 

0 .05 

- - ---
0.77 

0.12 
Area Development Tax 
Development 
Tax Act, 2000 

Octroi T,1x 
Act, 
Maharashtra 

Octroi 0 .03 

Period to 
which the 

amount relates 

(Financial 
Year) 

2017- 18 

Formnwhere 
dispute is 
pending 

Co1nmissioner 
of C ustoms 
(Appeals), New 
Delhi 

2-0 -16..,..--1-7---; Corn missionei:--

2003-04, 2005-
06 to 2006-07 

2005-06 

----,-

(Appeals) Patna 

High Court 
(Pu njab and 
Haryan_a...:..) _ _ 
Appellate 
Trib unal, 
Commercial 
Tax , Ernakulam, 
(Kerala) 

2007-08 Appellate 
Tribunal, 
Commercial 
Tax, (Tamil 
Nadu) 

2008-09 to 2011- High Court, 
12 Orissa 

2001-02 - - -,Joi~ 
Commissioner 
(Appeals), 
Farid a had 

2010-11 Nagp1rr 
Municipal 
Co_!poratio1! __ 
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meof 
- -

Na 
the Statute 

ods and Go 
Ser 
Act 
Go 
Se1 
Act 

-vices Tax 
.1 2017 
ods and 
vices Tax 
, 2017 

ods and Go 
Servi 
Act 

ces Tax 
, 2017 

ods and Go 
Ser 
Act 

-vices Tax 
• 2017 

N-ature of dues Amount of 
Demand 
without 
netting- off 
amount paid 
under protest 

(Rs. crores) 

Goods and services 0 -46 
tax 

Goods and services 0.11 

tax 

-
Goods and services 0.5 8 
tax 

Goods and services 0 .08 

tax 

-

Amount 
paid 
under 
protest 

(Rs. 
crores) 

0-46 

----
-

0.06 

-

- -o- d to which 
amount 

Peri 
the· 
rela tcs 

(Fin ancial 
Yea r) 

2017-18 

- ~ 
2 0 19 -20 

-
2017-18 

2017-18 

Forum where 
dispute is 
pending 

High Court~­
U ttar Pradesh 

Additional -­
Co mmissioner 
(A ), Dehradun 
(Uttarakhand) 
Commissioner 
ofGST 
Appeals­
Ghaziabad 
De puty----i 

Commissioner, 
Kerala 

The above amounts contain interest and penalty where included in the order issued by the taxation 
authority to the Company. 

viii According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company 
examined by us, there are no transactions that has been surrendered or disclosed as income 
during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961, that has not been recorded 
in the books of account. 

ix. (a) According to the records of the Company examined by us and the information and explanation 
given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment ofloans or other borrowings or in the 
payment of interest to any lender during the year. 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our audit 
procedures, we report that t he Company has not been declared Wilful Defaulter by any bank or 
financial institution or government or any government authority. 

(c) According to the records of the Company examined by us and the information and explanations 
given to us, the Company has not taken any term loan during the year. 

(d) According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures performed by us, 
and on an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, \ VC rcpr, rt that no 
funds raised on short-term basis have been used for long-term purposes by th(' ( · llllp,11 1-' . 

(e) According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the 
financial statements of the Company, we report that the Company has not taken any funds from 
any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiaries . 
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--- ------- -. ·-- - -- - - -- - --- ---- ---

(f) According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by us, we 
report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities hel d in 
its subsidiaries . 

x. (a) The Company has not raised any money by way of initial public offer or further public offer 
(including debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(x)(a) of 
the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(b) The Company has not made any prcfL' l'cnlial all >tnwnt ur private placement of shares or fully or 
partially or optionally convertible dt•hcnlures cluri11g lite year. Accordingly, the reporting under 
clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

x1. (a) During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of material 
fraud by the Company or on the Company, noticed or reported during the year, nor have we been 
informed of any such case by the Management. 

(b) During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, a report under Section 143(12) of the Act, in Form ADT-
4, as prescribed under rnl l• 13 of Companies (,\udit af!d Auditors) Rules, 2014 was not required 
to be filed with the Ce11tr:il Government. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xi)(b) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(c) During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company carried out in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, the Company has received whistle -blower complaints 
during the year, which have been considered by us for any bearing on our audit and reporting 
under this clause. 

x.ii. As the Company is not a Nidhi Company and the Nidhi Rules, 2014 are not appl icable to it, the 
reporting under clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

x111. The Company has entered into transactions with related parties in compliance with the provisions 
of Sections 177 and 188 of the Act. The details of such related party transactions have been disclosed 
in the standalone financial statements as required under Indian Accounting Standard 24 "Related 
Party Disclosures" specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

xiv. (a) In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has an 
internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business . 

(b) The reports of the Internal Auditor for the period under audit have been considered by us . 

xv. The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons 
connected with him . Accordingly, the reporting on compliance with the provisions of Section 192 

of the Act under clause 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

xvi. (a) The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India 
Act, 1934. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company. 
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(b) The Company has not conducted non-banking fi nancia l / housing finance activities during the 
year. Accordingly, the reporting under clause :{(.wi)(h) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company. 

(c) TIH· Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by the 
Rcsl:rv<.: Bank of India. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company. 

(d) Based 011 lhc information .1ml explanations provided by the ma11agc11ient of lltl' l'on 1pa11y, lh<' 
Group dues not have :111y CJCs, which :ire parl of the Group. We h:wc not , howL·,cr, separately 
cv;ilu;il t•d whether !he i11f"onnalin11 prnvid •d by the ma11agcrncl1l i: accurnlc and cmnpletc. 
,'\crnrd ingl) , the rC"pnrting under tl:iuse :{(xvi )(d) of the Order is not appl icable lo the Company. 

xvii. The Company has not incurred any cash losses in the financial year or in the immediately preceding 
financial year. 

xviii. There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly the reporting 
under clause (xviii) is not applicable. 

xix. According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios 
(Also refer Note 32(17)) to the standalone financial , statements, ageing and expected dates of 
realisil tiun of financial assl!l s and pay111ent of financial liabilities, other inforlllaliun acco111pa11ying 
the fi11 :111 ·ial statements, 011r k110wl cclgr of the Board of Directors and ma11.1gen1cnl plans nnd based 
1111 o u1· l'xa111ina1ion or th. · evidcn · · :rnpporling the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, 
which c:rnses 11s to believe that any material uncertainty cxis ls as on the dat · or Lhc audit report that 
Cornpa1 1y is nol capable of meeting ils liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when 
they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is 
1101 a11 assurance as lu Lltl• r11 1u1·c• \·iahilily of lit (• Company. We fu rther state that nur rt> porlin~ is 
based 011 lh <.! facts up Lo 1lw dak of the al1dit report all(! v,c nrilllC'r give any gu:ir;rntrl· nur •11w 
assurann' th:tt all li;d iilili t•,; fa llin~ d ue wi1 hi11 a 1wriod t1f one year from the balance s l1 ·ct date will 
get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due. 

xx.(a)In respect of other than ongoing projects, as at balance sheet dale, Lh c Company does not have any 
amount remaining unspent under Section 135(5) of tile Act. /\n·onlingly, reporting under clause 
3(xx)(a) of the Order is not applicable. Also refer Note 32(8) to the financial statements 

(b)The Company had transferred the amount of Corporate Social Responsibility remaining unspent 
under sub-section (5) of Section 135 of the Act pursuant to ongoing projects, to a special account in 
compliance with the provision of sub-section (6) of Section 135 of the Act. Also refer Note 32(8) to 
the financial statements. 
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xxi. The reporting under clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable in respect of audit of Standalone 
Financial Statements. Accordingly, no comment in respect of the said clause has been included in 
this report. 

For Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 
Firm Registration Number: 304026E/ E-300009 

s, '""'" :r /4v~ 
I' rl1wr 
l\ mh •r:;hip Number: 057084 
UDIN: 23057084BGYFRB3,143 

Place: Gnrugram 
Date: May 3, 2023 



Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 

Independent auditor's report 

To the Members of Havclls India Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated F'inancial Statements 

Opinion 

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of Havells India Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as the "Holding Company") and its subsidiaries (Holding Company and 
its subsidiaries together referred lo as "Lhe Group") (refer Note 30B to Lhe attached consolidated 
financial statements), which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, and 
the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, the 
consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 
"ti1e consolidated financial statements"). 

2 . In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the aforesaid consolidated fina ncial statements give the information required by the Companies 
Act, 2013 ("the Act'.') in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the 
Group, as at March 31, 2023, and consolidated total comprehensive income (comprising of 
profit and other comprehensive income), consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion 

3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in 
the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group, in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our auclit of the consolidated financial statements in Incli,1 in terms of the 
Code of Ethics issued by the Ins titute of Chartered Accountants of In dia and the relevant 
provisions of the Act, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilit ies in accordance 
with these requirements. vVe believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit 
evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in sub-paragraph 
15 of the Other Matters section below, other than the unaudited financial statements as 
certified by the management and referred to in sub-paragraph 14 of the Other Matters section 
below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP, Building No. 8, 8th Floor, Tower B, DLF Cyber City 
Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana 
T: + 91 (124} 4620 000, F: +91 (124} 4620 620 

Registered olfice and Head office: Plot No 56 & 57, Block DN, Sector-V, Salt Lake, Kolkata - 700 091 

Price Waterhouse&. Co. (a Partnership Firm) converted into Price Waterbouse & Co Chartered Accoun tants LLP (a Limited Liability Partnership with LLP id entity no: 
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Key Audit Matters 

4. Key audit matters are those matters that, in om professional judgment, were of rnost 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. Tl 1ese 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, nnd we do not provide a separate opinion on t h ese 
matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters t o be 
communicated in our report. 

Key audit matter 

Assessment of impairment of goodwill and 
intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives 

Refer Note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

As at March 31, 2023, the consolidated financial 
statements includes goodwill of Rs. 310-47 crore:,; 
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives of 
Rs. 1,029 crores pe1taining to acquisition of Lloyd 
business in an earlier year. 

In accordance with the requirements of Indian 
Accounting Standard (Ind AS) - 36 'Impairment of 
Assets', the management has allocated the said 
goodwill and intangible assets to the underlying 
Cash Generating Unit (CGU), and tested the same 
for impairment using a Discounted Cash Flow 
(DCF) model. l3ased on such test, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU is higher than the carrying 
amount of the sai<l assets and accor<li11gly no 
adjustment fo r impairment is necessary. 

We considered this as a key audit matter because 
of the significant carrying value of the above 
mentioned assets and high estimation unce1tainty 
in assumptions used such as discount rate, rate of 
growth over the estimation period and terminal 
~rowth rate which arc affected by folure market 
and economic conditions and, hence, are 
inherently uncertain. 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Our audit procedures among others, 

included the following: 

a. Understanding and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal controls 
over the impairment assessment process, 
including preparation of the DCF model; 

b. Evaluating the Group's accounting policy in 
respect of impairment assessment of goodwill 
and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives; 

c. Understanding the cash flow projections and 
assumptions used in the 
evaluating the mathematical 
reading the rcp01t of the 
expert; 

DCF model, 
accuracy and 
management's 

cl. Together with auditor's valuation experts, 
testing the appropriateness of the DCF model 
and key assumptions therein and performing 
sensitivity analysis over key assumptions to 
corroborate that the recoverable amount of 
the CGU is within a reasonable range; and 

e. Testing related presentation and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

Based on the above procedures performed, the 
management's impairment assessment of the 
goodwill and intangible assf\tS was found to be 
reasonable. 
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Other Information 

5. The Holding Comp:my's Board of Directors is responsible for the other infon nation. The o ther 
information comprises the information included in the Annual report bu t does not includ e the 
consolidated fi nancial statements ancl our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other inform"1tion 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other informatio n is 
materially inconsistent with the consolicbted financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed and Lhe reports of the other auditors as furnished to us (Refer paragraph 15 
below), we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we ,ire 
required to repm·t that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard . 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

6. The Holding Co1npany's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation 'and presentation 
of these consolidated financial statements in term of the requirements of the Act that give a 
true and fair view of the consolich1ted financial position, consolidated financial performance 
and consolidated cash nows, and changes in equity of the Group in accordance with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards 
specified under Section 1::33 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting recorcls in 
,H:corrl,mcf' with thP. prnvi.~inns of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group :md for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that arc reasonable and 
prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were oper,1ting effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting rernnls, rclcv,mt to the preparation :-md presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give ,1 true and foi1 view and an'. free from material 111isstaternenl, whether 
due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
fin;incial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid. 

7. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the 
companies im:luded in the Group are responsible for assessing the ,1bility or the Group lo 
col!tinue as a going concern , discl osing, as applicable, matters related Lo going concern and 
using the going concern basis of ,1ccounti11g unless management either inlencls Lo liquidate the 
Group or lo ce,1se opera! ions , or lws no realistic alternative but to do so. 

8. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are rcsponsibll' fo r 
overseeing the fin ,rncial report ing process of the Group. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

9. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fin a ncial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or erro1-, and 
lo issue an aud itor's reporl thal im-ludc:; our opinion. Reasonable assurnnet• is a high k·vd of 
,1ssurnnce but is not a guar.inleP Lhal an audit eonducted in accordance with SAs wi ll al wavs 
dekd a n1aterial misstatemtnt wht'n ii exists. l\1fisslalc:ments can arise from fraud or crro1· a,;d 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonahly be expe cted 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these co nsolidated financial 
statements. 

10. As part of an audit in accordance vvith SAs, we exercise professional judgement and ma intain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basi s for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement result in~ from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intenti onal 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that arc ,-,ppropriate in the circumstances. l Tnder Section 143(3)(i) of the Act. we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding Company has 
adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statement s in 
place and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
nccounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to 
eontinue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are requ ired 
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
finnncial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
<·011d11sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the elate of our aud itor's reµort. 
I l1nwver, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
staternents, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regard ing the financial in for mation of the entit ies 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. \,Ve arc responsibl e for tb e di rection, supervision and pcrforr11ance of the audit of 
the firnrncial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of 
which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated 
financ ial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such oth er auditors remain 
responsible for th e direction, supervision and performance of the audi ts carri ed out by them. 
We rernain solely responsible for our audit opinion . 
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11. We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other 
entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the indepeu dent 
auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audi t and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

12 . We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to hear on our indepencl ence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

13. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 01· when, 
in extrernely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Other Matters 

14. vVe did not audit the financial statements of one subsidiary located outside India, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of Rs Nil and net assets of Rs Nil as at March 31, 2023, 

total revenue of Rs. Nil, total comprehensive income (comprising of loss and other 
comprehensive income) of Rs (0.04) crores and net cash outflows amounting to Rs 4.39 crores 
for the period April 01, 2022 till October 27, 2022 (dissolution date), as considered in the 
consolidatecl financial statements. These financial statements arc unaudited and have been 
furnished to us by the Management, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this subsiclia1y and 
our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the .Act including report on Other 
Information in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary, is based solely on such unaudited 
finandal statements. In our opinion and according to the information ancl explanations given 
to us by the Management, these financial statements are not material to the Group. · 

15. The financial statements of one subsidiary located outside India, included in the consolidated 
financi::1] statements, which coustitute total assets of Rs 14.69 crores and net assets of Rs 11.42 

crores as at Ma rch 31, 2023, total revenue of Rs. 42.35 crores, total comprehensive income 
(comprising of loss and other comprehensive income) of Rs 0.36 crorcs and net cash inflows 
amounting to Rs 0.55 crores for the year then ended have been prepared in accorclancr. with 
accounting principles generally accepted in its country ancl have been audited by other 
auditors Hncler g •m•ra lly accepted anditing standards applicable in its country. The Holding 
Company's rna n:igt1rncnl has converted the financial statements of such suhsiclic1ry located 
outside Ind ia from the accounling principles generally accepted in its country to the 
accou nting, principles ge11erally accepted in India. We have audited these conversion 
adjustments made by the Holding Company's m:magcrnent. Our opinion in so for as it relates 
to the balances and affairs of such subsidiary located outside India, including other 
information, is based on the report of other auditors and the conversion adjustments prepared 
by the managcrnent of the llolding Company and <1uclited by us. 

Our opinion on the consoliclatcu financial statt•11w11ts, and om report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect 
to our rclia11ce 011 the work tlon c ,111d the repmts of lhc other auditors and the financial 
statements certified by the Ma11age111enl. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

16. As required by paragraph 3(xxi) of the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 ("CARO 2020"), 

issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we 
report that there are no qualifications or adverse remarks included in the CARO 2020 report issued 
in respect of the standalone financial statements of the Holding Company which are included in 
these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, CARO 2020 is not 
applicable to the subsidiary companies included in these Consolidated Financial Statements, hence, 
this report does not contain a statement on the matter specified in paragraph 3(xxi) of CARO 2020 
in relation to the subsidiary compani es. 

17. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that: 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements. 

(b) In our opinion, proper hooks of account as required by law relating to preparation of the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors. 

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement ol Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the 
relevant books of account and records maintained for the purpose of preparation of t he 
consolidated financial statements. 

(cl) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Account ing 
Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on March 31, 2023 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company, none of the directors of the Holding Company is disqualified as on March 31, 2023 
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act. 

(t) With respect to the aJequacy of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our 
separate report in Annexure A. 

(g) With resp<~ct to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with 
Rule n of the Companies (Audit and Auditor's) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of 
our informat ion and [!Ccording to the explanations given to us: 

i. The consolidated fi11ancial statements disclose the impact, if any, of pending litigations on 
the rnnsoliclated financial position of the Croup - Refer Note 30A to the consolidated 
financi,il statements. 

11. The Croup w<1s not required to recognise a provision as at March 31, 2023 under the 
applicable law or accot1nting standards, as it does not have any material foreseeable 
losses on lo11g-terrn contract. The Group did not have any derivative contracts as at 
l'llc1rc:h 31, :w:2:~ . 
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iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts required to be transferred to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company during the year. 

1v. (a) The Management of the Holding Company has represented to us that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds (wh ich 
are material either individually or in the aggregate) have been advanced or loaned or 
invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of 
funds) by the Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries to or in any other perso]-i(s) 
or entily(i es), induding for l:' ig11 entities ("Intermediaries"), with the unders tandi ng, 
whelher recorded in wriLing or othervvise, that the Intermecliaiy shall, directly or 
indirectly, lend or i11 vesl i11 o ther persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding Company or any of such subsidiar ies 
("Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries (Refer Note 31(16)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements). 

(b) The Management of the Holding Company has represented to us that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds (which are 
material either individually or in the aggregate) have been received by the Hol ding 
C1J111p~111y 01· a11y of such s ulis iJiades fro111 a11y pl'r~on(s) or l'ntitylies) , i1wl11di ng fn n ·ign 
1•11lilit!S ("'F11ndin)!, l'arties ··) , with lhe 1111tkrs tn11din)!,, wlH;llier reconlvd in writin g or 
o therwise, that Lh, I !old in~ Co111pa11y or any of su ·II subsidiades sh;dl. clirei'I I , or 
i11direclly, lend or invest in o lhcr person: or entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party ("Ultimate Ileneficiaries") 01 1Jruville auy guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries (Rr:fer Note 31(16)(ii) to the 
consolidated financial statements). 

(c) Based on the audit procedures, that has been considered reasonable and appropriate in 
the circumstances, pelformed by us, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to 
believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e) contain any 
material misstatement. 

v. The dividend declared and paid during the year by the Holding Company is in compliance 
with Section 123 of the Act. 

18. The Group has paid/ pro\,jded for managerial remuneration in accordance with th e reqt1isite 
approvals mandated by the provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act . 
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19. As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended}, w hich 
provides for the feature of recording of audit trail (edit log) facility in the accounting software 
used by the Group, for maintenance of books of account and related matters, is applicabl e for 
the Holding Company only with effect from financial year beginning April 1, 2023, the 
reporting under clause (g) of Rule 11 is currently not applicable. 

For Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 
Fi~·m Registration Number: 304026E/ E-300009 

oug;,:r ~-
Partner 
Membership Number: 057084 

UDIN: 23057084BGYFRC1110 
Place: Gurugram 
Date: May 03, 2023 
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to Consolidated Financ ial 
Statements under clause (i) of sub-section ;3 of Section 14;3 of the Act 

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for 
the year ended March 31, 2023 , we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to 
financi a l s tr1t cmen ts of llavells India Limited (hereinafter rekrrcd to as ·' til l' lfolding Compan y"). 
Repnrli 11 g under tlaw:c ( i) of suh sect ion :1 of Scd ion L 1 :! nf l he !\cl in rci-;pcc:l of l he acl !'quacy of the 
intcrnnl (in:rn<'ia l t ontrols with rcfercnee to fina1H'ial s t:1lt• 111 en t: is 1101 :1pplicahlt1 In Lwo subsidia ries 
as they are not incorporated in India namely Havells Guangzhou International Lim ited and Havells 
Holdings Limited (dissolved on October 27, 2022). 

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

2. The Board of Directo rs of the Holding Company, is resp >nsibk lor csl:ililishing and mai11la in i11g 
internal lfoa11eial 1:onlrols based on i11tcrnal cont rol c,wr fi1 1ancial reporting crileria establis hed l,y 
the Company consitlt·rinl,\ lh · t•ssenlial cot n()cH1enls of inl c rnaJ control s t.at C'd in the Guidance Nnl.e 
n11 Audi t nf lnle rna l Fin;in"i:d Controls Ove r Fi11anc i:d IZt>p<,rl ing ("the Gu id.a11ce Not•") issw:d hv 
th<' In. tit11t c_o f Cl,urtcred AcL·o unta n ts of India (" ICAI "). ThL'S(' 1-es r < nsihilitit•s inrludt• th(' dt•:,;i)!,,;, 
i111p lcrncntatio11 and maintcn:rnc~ of ackqua le internal financial controls that were op ·ratin11. 
cffcd i\'r ly fo r e nsuring the o rde rly and fficic nl c:oudud If its business, i11 d 11ding arlhcrcnn· In th 
Co1Hpall)'S pulicies, th • s :1 fcg11an.ling of its assets, the prevention and detection offra11ds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely prep;1ra tion of n'.li a ble 
financial information, as required under the Act. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

3. Our responsibi li ty is to express an opm10n on the Company's internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements based on our audit. vVe conducted our audit in accordance v,rith the 
Guidance Note issuetl by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing deemed to be prescribed under 
Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, lo the extent applicable to an audit of in tern al financial 
controls, both applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and both issued by the ICAI. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan ,:md 
pci·form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal fina n cial controls 
with reference to financi,il statements w,is established ,rnd maintained ancl if such controls operated 
effectively in c1ll material respects . 

tJ. Our auclil involves performing procedures to ohtc1in audil evidence ,1hout the ;idcquacy of the 
internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and the ir operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial st;i lcrnents included 
oh~:ii11i11g ;111 Lt11dc rs la1 tcli11g nf ·illll'l'll:l l 111.i neia l ro11trols w1 1lt r ·ll' r,·11 t't' lo l"i1 1:111c ial -;tat •11 1t• 11ts . 
as :,l's ·i11 ).\ LlH• risk 111:il a 111alcrial \vcakness ex ist,.. , and tes tin g and ev: d11 ;1l ill ).\ the cl c·s ig11 ;111d 
opc• r ,1 ting pff <:tiv<•11(•,;~ of inl •rnal con trol h:iM•d 1111 the assesst'd risk. T he pro ·cdurcs sclet·tt•cl 
depend on the auditor's judgement, i nclncling the assessrnent of the risks uf ma terial misstatement 
of the financial staterncnts, whether due to fraud or error. 

5 . We believe tha t the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient ;ind apprnpriate l o provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Holding Company's inte rn a l financial conlrnls syste m with reference to 
consolidated financial statements . 
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements 

6. 1\ rnm pa 11y's in te rna l fi 11 anl' ia l c1111trn\ with rd t' n:nl'(' to fi.11 ;111l'i;,I Sl ll tl:nwn l:; is a pro<·css cit-signed 
to prov ide reasonable ;1ss11nmn · regarding the t't' lialiil ity ol fi nnncia l repnrli11g and the prcp:1n ,11ion 
of li 11ani-ia l s lntt•n tt•n ls for r-x tc rnnl purpn-.;t•s in arn,nlancc wi th gt•nc-,·nlly accepted accrn111ti 111; 
pri nciples. /\ co mpany's i11 ten wl linanc i:tl ccrnlrol with rL-fcn·11cc Lo fi nancia l s ta lcme nls ind mks 
those po licies a nd procC'cl m cs tha t ( 1) pertai n to the maintenance of records that , in reason able 
clda il , accurately and fai rly rc il ecL t lw I rnn~;Je tio ns a 11d dis posi tions of I hC' ass< 'I S of the <·ornpany: 
('..!) provide reasonable assurance tlt a l tra 11sactillllS a re n·rn rdml as 1wcel:isary to permit prc pa r . ttion 
of fi nancial statements i11 an:orda nn' witl1 g<'ncra lly acr plcd an;o 1111 ting principles , ;m cl that 
receipts and expend iture's of the com p::rn v a rc I ei11g 111 ,1th• only in ;1r·<·ordan('(• with a11 Lhori sa tirH1s of 
111.111 agcn1t't1l and d ircr lPrs of till' rn mp,111 ·; a nd (3) prn vid t• reasonable assurance rega n iing 
pn.!vC' 11tio1 1 or t imely dctedio11 or 1111011 \liori sed acquisit inn, use , or disposit ion of the t<J111p,1 11 y's 
asse ts llwl could have a nw tc ri,d t'fl l'rl 0 11 the finam:ial st;11 c11 1c 11t s . 

Inherent Lim itations of Internal Financial Controls with refe rence to financial 
statements 

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements, including the possibility of collusio11 or improper man,1gcment ove rride of con trols, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud m a ' oc·cu r and nol be cl cteclcd . Also, projcdi1 11s o f any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls with r1..of1-•n ·nce to fi11 a ncial statements to fu ture pc1·iods 
are subject to the risk that the internal financial c,11, tr() I with refnt· 11ci· lo fin anr ia l s la le nH'n ts 11rnv 
become inadequate because of changes in condil'ions , ur tltal the degree I compliam:c with lit~' 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opin ion 

8. In our opinion, the Holding Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal finan cial 
controls system with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements· were operating effectively as at March 31, 2023, based on the 
internal control over financial n ~porli 1.1 ~ criteria est ~dili s he l1 by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal rn 11 1ro l s tated in the C \1id;11 1c · Note issued by th e ICAI. 

For Price Waterhouse & Co Chartered Accountants LLP 
Firm Registration Number: 304026E/ E-300009 

so":~kit 
Partner 

lt'111h l• 1-; lt ip Number: 057084 

UDIN: 23057084BGYFRC1110 
Place: Gurugram 
Date: May 03, 2023 
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